IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 83436 Electronically Filed
Dec 28 2021 05:16 p.m.
ZANE MICHAEL FLOYD Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

WILLIAM GITTERE, Warden, and AARON FORD, Nevada Attorney General,

Respondents.

Appeal From Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County The Honorable Michael Villani,

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

RENE L. VALLADARES
Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 11479
DAVID ANTHONY
Assistant Federal Public Defender
Nevada State Bar No. 7978
Assistant Federal Public Defender
BRAD D. LEVENSON
Assistant Federal Public Defender

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a district court order denying Petitioner Zane Floyd's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) in a capital case. The district court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on August 16, 2021. 14PA3484-90 Notice of the entry of order was entered on August 18, 2021. 14PA3484. Mr. Floyd filed a timely Notice of Appeal on August 30, 2021. 14PA3493-94. This Court has appellate jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to NRS 177.015(1)(b), 177.015(3), 34.575(1), and 34.830.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is retained by the Supreme Court because it is a capital case. Nev. R. App. P. 17(a)(1).

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Department 5 was the court of conviction, the court where the death sentence was obtained, and the court that heard all prior post-conviction matters as required by Chapters 34 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. Did the district court err in denying Mr. Floyd's motion to transfer the habeas case to Department 5 as required by NRS 34.730(3)?

- 2. Did the district court err in denying Mr. Floyd's claim that the denial of the opportunity to seek clemency with the Pardons Board before his upcoming execution violates his right to due process; and further, are the Board's rules a violation of a death row inmate's due process rights?
- 3. Did the district court err in denying Mr. Floyd's claim that he is categorically ineligible for the death penalty due to his Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder ("FASD"), which is morally equivalent to Intellectual Disability in terms of its severity?
- 4. Did the district court err in denying Mr. Floyd's claim that state law prohibits his execution at the Ely State Prison when NRS 176.355(3) requires the execution to take place at the Nevada State Prison?
- 5. Did the district court err in denying Mr. Floyd's claim that intervening law allows him to receive consideration of his claim that his death sentence is invalid due to improper penalty-phase verdict forms?

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The district court's legal conclusions are reviewed de novo. Wells Fargo, N.A., v. Radeki, 134 Nev. 619, 621, 426 P.3d 593, 596 (2018). This Court will defer to the district court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous or unsupported by substantial evidence. Rippo v State, 134 Nev. 411, 416 423 P.3d 1084, 1093, amended on denial of reh'g, 432 P.3d 167 (2018). However, in the instant case, no factual development was permitted and there is therefore nothing to which to defer. Questions of statutory interpretation are reviewed by this Court de novo. Matter of William S., 122 Nev. 432, 437, 132 P.3d 1015, 1018 (2006). A question of law pertaining to the constitutionality of a statute or administrative regulation is reviewed de novo. Silvar v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct. ex rel. Cty. of Clark, 122 Nev. 289, 292, 129 P.3d 682, 684 (2006).

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the order of the district court denying Mr. Floyd's post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus, Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A-21-832952-W. 14PA3484–92. On August 16, 2021, Department 17 issued its Findings of Fact and

Conclusions of Law denying Mr. Floyd habeas relief on all claims. *Id.*The written notice of entry of order was served on August 18, 2021. *Id.*

Mr. Floyd filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus (post-conviction) on April 15, 2021, in which he raised two constitutional claims challenging the validity of his death sentence. 6PA1367–1413. He then filed an amended petition on May 11, 2021, raising an additional two claims for relief challenging his death sentence. 10–11PA2474–2530. On June 3, 2021, he filed a second amended petition, raising an additional claim challenging his death sentence. 12PA2766–2822. The State filed a Response to Petitioner's Third Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) on June 4, 2021. 12PA2960–78. Mr. Floyd filed a Reply on June 18, 2021. 13PA3048–91.

Oral arguments were heard on July 9, 2021. 13PA3149–62. On August 16, 2021, Department 17 entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of law denying the petition without an evidentiary hearing. 14PA3484–90. On August 18, 2021, the written Notice of Entry was served. 14PA3484.

This appeal follows.

VI. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Factual development in the matter below was not permitted. The district court was therefore required to accept the factual assertions contained in the petition as true unless belied by the record. *Mann v. State*, 118 Nev. 351, 353, 46 P.3d 1228, 1229 (2002).

Mr. Floyd was convicted of four counts of first-degree murder and other offenses and sentenced to death in 2000. 12PA2768. Department 5 was the court of conviction, where the death sentence was obtained, and also the court that heard the two subsequent post-conviction matters that followed. 1PA0003.

A. Relevant facts concerning improper transfer of the postconviction petition (Issue VIII(A) below)

Mr. Floyd has maintained a continuous objection that the transfer of his habeas matter from Department 5 to Department 17 was improper and requires reversal with instructions to transfer the case to Department 5 for de novo consideration of the petition.

¹ The facts of the offenses are set forth in this Court's order affirming the judgment on direct appeal. *Floyd v. State*, 118 Nev. 156, 42 P.3d 249 (2002).

Mr. Floyd filed numerous objections regarding the improper transfer of this habeas matter, and his criminal case, to the district court in Department 17, versus Department 5, which was the original court for the trial and all prior habeas proceedings. Mr. Floyd filed the original Motion to Transfer Case Under EDCR 1.60(H) on April 14, 2021, in the criminal and habeas matters. 1PA0001–09. The State filed a Response to Defendant's Motion to Transfer Case Under EDCR 1.60(H), in opposition, on April 26, 2021. 7PA1503–10PA2270. Mr. Floyd filed a Reply to the State's Response to Motion to Transfer Case Under EDCR 1.60(H) on April 29, 2021. 10PA2300–06.

Mr. Floyd also filed the instant Petition for Writ of Habeas Corus (Post-Conviction) on April 15, 2021. 6PA1367–1413. The next day, the habeas matter was also reassigned to Department 17 ostensibly because the criminal case was assigned to that department. 7PA1501–02. On May 14, 2021, oral argument was heard concerning the Motion to Transfer, including the transfer of the habeas proceedings. 11PA2654–80. On that day, the Motion to Transfer was denied. 11PA2662. The Decision and Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Transfer Case Under EDCR 1.60(H) was filed on June 4, 2021. 13PA3005–07.

Following this, Mr. Floyd filed an Objection to Order Denying Motion to Transfer Case Under EDCR 1.60(H) on June 9, 2021, with Department 10. 13PA3008–16. The State filed a response in opposition to this objection on June 17, 2021. 13PA3041–47. Argument on the objection was heard on June 18, 2021. On June 21, 2021, Department 10 issued an Order Denying Defendant's Objection to Order Denying Defendant's Motion to Transfer Case Under EDCR 1.60(H). 13PA3109–10. This Order did not address the habeas petition or Mr. Floyd's arguments regarding improper transfer of the habeas petition. *Id.*

Following the Order issued out of Department 10, on June 22, 2021, Mr. Floyd filed an Objection to Order Denying Motion to Transfer Case under EDCR 1.60(H) with Department 7. 13PA3111–21. On June 28, 2021, the district court issued a minute order declining to hear the matter due to multiple conflicts. 13PA3148.² Separate from this appeal, Mr. Floyd filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Prohibition with this Court on the issue of the improper transfer of both the criminal and habeas matters. *See* Case No. 83167.

 $^{^{2}}$ The minute order also noted that the presiding criminal judge had already determined the matter. 13PA3148.

On September 7, 2021, this underlying case was transferred from Department 17 to Department 6.3 14PA3496.

B. Relevant facts regarding the recent change in the location of the execution from Nevada State Prison to Ely State Prison (Issue VIII(D) below)

Mr. Floyd did not have a notice of the intent to execute him at Ely State Prison until May 10, 2021, as the State's warrant originally sought to execute him at Nevada State Prison. 10PA2310–11. Originally the warrant submitted by the State complied with the specifics of NRS 176.355(3) and listed Nevada State Prison as the location of the execution. 4 10PA2413–16; 10PA2310. It was not until the May 10, 2021 filing that the State changed the location of the execution to designate Ely State Prison as the location of the execution. Additional facts are stated below in the argument sections of Mr. Floyd's claims. 5

³ This transfer date is noted on the docket history on the e-filing system for the Eighth Judicial District Court. The new Department is clearly noted in the caption of the Civil Order to Statistically Close Case dated December 8, 2021, that was filed in the habeas matter after the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law were issued.

⁴ It stated "Said execution to be within the limits of the State Prison, located at or near Carson City, State of Nevada…"10PA2416.

⁵ Separate from this appeal, Mr. Floyd filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Prohibition with this Court on the issue of the prohibition

VII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Department 17 did not have jurisdiction to hear Mr. Floyd's habeas petition. Considering the plain language of NRS 34.730(3), the district courts in Departments 10 and 17 erred when holding the transfer of Mr. Floyd's habeas petition was proper. As such, any decision from Department 17 regarding the habeas petition is void and must be deemed a nullity. Reversal is required with instructions to transfer the case to Department 5 to consider the petition de novo.

Beyond this error, the district court committed reversible errors in denying Mr. Floyd's petition. Mr. Floyd's claims challenging his death sentence are based on new factual and legal circumstances that did not previously exist during prior proceedings and which are now ripe due to the fact that the State seeks an order and warrant for his execution.

The district court erred when it found there are no state and federal due process rights to seek access to the clemency process for a death row inmate who is also exhausting judicial remedies.

of an execution taking place anywhere other than Nevada State Prison. See Case No. 83225.

Constitutional protections apply when a death row inmate seeks meaningful access to be heard in the clemency process, as a constitutionally protected life interest is at stake. Further, Nevada's clemency rules violate Mr. Floyd's right to due process, as the provisions are inconsistent with respect to whether and what judicial remedies must be exhausted before an inmate is permitted to seek commutation of his sentence. And the provisions provide no notice as to whether the Board considered the application or whether consideration was denied on procedural grounds. These provisions deprive death row inmates access to the clemency process. The relevant provisions are also unclear in their requirements and inconsistent between themselves, creating vagueness issues rendering the provisions invalid.

The district court erred when it found that *Atkins v. Virginia*, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), was not applicable in this matter due to a "bright-line" test on IQ. Mr. Floyd is exempt from the death penalty under the rationale of *Atkins* due to his Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder ("FASD") being morally and functionally equivalent to intellectual disability in terms of adaptive functioning deficits. Mr. Floyd is also ineligible for the

death penalty under *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), due to his functional mental age at the time of the crimes.

Additionally, the district court erred when it found that Mr. Floyd can be executed at Ely State Prison consistent with NRS 176.355(3). The plain reading of the statute would not lead to an absurd result, as the statute must simply be amended by the Legislature—not the courts—to specify a different location other than the Nevada State Prison.

Lastly, the district court erred when it decided that Mr. Floyd was not entitled to relief based on improper verdict forms given this Court's recent decision in *Petrocelli v. State*, No. 79069, 486 P.3d 1290, 2021 WL 2073794 (May 21, 2021) (unpublished disposition), when the district court decided this Court's decision does not apply in this case.⁶

⁶ Petrocelli is cited as persuasive authority, see NRAP 36(c)(3).

VIII. ARGUMENT

A. The district court erred in its denial of Mr. Floyd's motion to transfer the habeas petition to Department 5 for consideration.

The case transfer from Department 5 to Department 17 was improper, and thus the district court did not have jurisdiction to hear this matter. The district court erred in denying Mr. Floyd's motions to transfer the case and his subsequent objection to the denial of the motion to transfer the case back to Department 5 for consideration of the state habeas petitions. The Nevada Revised Statutes are clear as to the specific court which has jurisdiction to hear a post-conviction habeas petition. The statutes refer to the original judge or court as the one to which the post-conviction matter is properly assigned. Thus, the only court that can hear the habeas matter is Department 5.

1. The district court in Department 17 did not have subject matter jurisdiction over Mr. Floyd's post-conviction habeas petition.

Transfer of this matter to the district court in Department 17 was improper, and the lower court did not have jurisdiction to adjudicate the habeas petition. This renders any decision it issued a nullity. NRS 34.730(3) governs where the petition must be assigned and states:

Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, the clerk of the district court shall file a petition as a new action separate and distinct from any original proceeding in which a conviction has been had. If a petition challenges the validity of a conviction or sentence, it must be:

- (a) Filed with the record of the original proceeding to which it relates; and
- (b) Whenever possible, assigned to the *original* judge or court.

(Emphasis added).

Below, the habeas petition was transferred to Department 17 based on the fact that Department 17 had the criminal case. 77PA1501–02. The Notice of Department Reassignment cites to NRS 34.730 as the basis of the reassignment. *Id*.

However, NRS 34.730(3)(b) is clear that the assignment must be made to the "original judge or court" whenever possible. Department 5 was the court of conviction, the court where the death sentence was obtained, and the court that heard the two subsequent post-conviction matters in Mr. Floyd's case. Department 5 still exists and is the original

⁷ Mr. Floyd also maintains that the transfer of his criminal matter was improper under NRS 176 and this Court's instructions on remand in *Rainsberger v. State*, 81 Nev. 22, 22, 449 P.2d 254, 254 (1969).

court.⁸ The decisions below clearly ran afoul of NRS 34.730(3)(b). The transfer of the habeas petition to Department 17 was improper, and therefore that court did not have jurisdiction.

2. The proceedings in Department 17, and the orders issued by the district court, are null due to the absence of jurisdiction.

Because the transfer of Mr. Floyd's habeas petition was improper, Department 17 did not have subject matter jurisdiction to decide the case. An order issued by the wrong court is a quintessential example of a void order. As such, any order regarding the habeas petition out of Department 17 is void as it was issued by the wrong court. *Cf. Hasting v. Burning Moscow Co.*, 2 Nev. 93, 96 (1866) (stating court of criminal jurisdiction could not render civil judgment). The lack of jurisdiction nullifies all the rulings of the district court below. *E.g., Application of Alexander*, 80 Nev. 354, 358-59, 393 P.2d 615, 617 (1964). Thus, this Court must conclude that any decision issued by Department 17 in the

⁸ Since the filing of the appeal, both cases have now been transferred to Department 6 as of September 7, 2021. 14PA3496. This is still not the proper court for the habeas petition to be heard.

habeas case is invalid and remand the case with instructions for the proper department to adjudicate the petition.

B. The denial of an opportunity for Mr. Floyd to seek clemency with the Pardons Board before his execution violates his right to due process, and further Nevada's clemency regulations violate his due process rights.

The regulations of the Pardons Board are unclear and inconsistent as applied to death row inmates, as the provisions requiring the exhaustion of "judicial remedies" and the procedures allowing the Governor to override the vote of a member of the Board to hear an application leave petitioners unclear regarding what is required to access the clemency process. The State's intention to execute Mr. Floyd before he has had a meaningful opportunity to seek clemency violates state and federal constitutional rights to due process and equal protection. As constitutional protections apply to death row inmates seeking meaningful access to the clemency process, if Mr. Floyd is executed prior to having a meaningful opportunity to be heard by the Board it would amount to a violation of state and federal constitutional guarantees of due process, equal protection, and freedom from cruel

and/or unusual punishment.⁹ U.S. Const. amend. V, VIII, XIV; Nev. Const. Art. I, § 1, 5, 6, 8; Art. 4, § 21; 5 § 13, 14.

To be clear, Mr. Floyd does not argue he is entitled to a certain outcome from the Board, but simply that due to his compelling life interest he is entitled access to the Board in a meaningful capacity regardless of the final answer to his application under the state and federal constitutional guarantees cited above. ¹⁰

The district court partly based its decision denying relief on Mr. Floyd's claim on this Court's decision in *Goldsworthy v. Hannif*, 86 Nev. 252, 256, 468 P.2d 250, 353 (1970). 14PA3489. Specifically, the district

⁹ The Nevada Constitution offers the citizens of this state broader protection against cruel or unusual punishments given the clear language differences between Nev. Const. art 1, § 6, "cruel *or* unusual," versus the language in U.S. Const. amend. VIII, "cruel *and* unusual." (emphasis added).

¹⁰ While NAC 213.019 purports to deprive individual litigants of a private right of action that provision is not controlling here as: (1) it states that it does not create an "interest in liberty," but does not address a life interest, (2) NRS 233B.040 is clear the Nevada Administrative Code has the force of law and as the Legislature has clearly created provisions for commutation of a death sentence NAC 213.019 cannot be used to excuse arbitrary denial of access when it concerns a right protected by due process, and (3) Mr. Floyd does not argue he has the right to commutation, merely the right to meaningful access to the clemency process.

court held that Mr. Floyd did not have a constitutional right to clemency. *Id.* However, the decision in *Goldsworthy* actually supports Mr. Floyd's position. There is a difference in that the interest at stake in *Goldsworthy* was the defendant's liberty, while here it is Mr. Floyd's very life in peril. Both interests, however, deal with an issue of access to the procedures of the Pardons/Parole Board. In fact, in *Goldsworthy* this Court ordered the State Board of Parole Commissioners to consider the application for parole. *See Goldsworthy*, 86 Nev. at 257, 468 P.2d at 354.

In *Goldsworthy*, the petitioner petitioned for a writ of mandate directing the Department of Parole and Probation to allow him to not only file an application, but to require the State Board of Parole Commissioners to consider his application for parole. *See id.* After the case was final, the relevant provisions governing the timing of parole applications were changed. *See id.* at 254, 468 P.2d at 352. When Mr. Goldsworthy attempted to apply for parole, the Board of Parole Commissioners refused to allow him to apply under the new provisions. *Id.* Mr. Goldsworthy argued that "whether he is granted parole or not, he is legally entitled to make application under the statute in effect

prior to July 1, 1967." *Id.* at 255, 468 P.2d at 352. This Court ultimately issued a Writ of Mandate commanding the respondents in that matter to "permit petitioner to file and directing respondents to consider his request for parole." *Id.* at 257, 468 P.2d at 354.

Similar to the ex post facto issue in *Goldsworthy*, the relevant Nevada Administrative Code ("NAC") requirements discussed below were also passed after Mr. Floyd was sentenced. The relevant changes to NAC 213 (NAC 213.055, NAC 213.107, and NAC 213.120) occurred in 2010, about a decade after Mr. Floyd was sentenced. Notably, these modifications occurred after Mr. Thomas Nevius was granted clemency by the Pardons Board in 2002. ¹¹ Mr. Nevius is the last death row inmate to have applied for, and been granted, clemency in Nevada.

Further in *Severance v. Armstrong*, 97 Nev. 95, 96, 624 P.2d 1004, 1005 (1981), this Court stated, in regard to an application for parole, "[s]uch a right, once granted by the legislature, is a constitutionally

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