IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ZANE MICHAEL FLOYD,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Feb 24 2022 01:18 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Case No. 83436

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From the Denial of a Third Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly denied Floyd's Third Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). Floyd's Third Petition contained arguments that are not appropriate for a petition for writ of habeas corpus, and they were untimely filed without good cause. Moreover, in addition to the procedural defects that support the district court's denial of the petition, Floyd's claims also fail on the merits.

ARGUMENT

I. FLOYD'S PETITION WAS UNTIMELY, SUCCESSIVE, AND AN ABUSE OF THE WRIT

Although the district court's final order did not mention the procedural bars, it was proper for the district court to deny Floyd's third petition for writ of habeas corpus. This Court will affirm a decision of the district court even if it reached the result for an incorrect reason. <u>Wyatt v. State</u>, 86 Nev. 294, 298, 468 P.2d 338, 341 (1970). A district court has a duty imposed by law to only consider claims when the claims are not barred under NRS 34.726, NRS 34.810, NRS 34.800, or the previous law of the case. <u>State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Riker)</u>, 121 Nev. 225, 112 P.3d 1070 (2005). "The law of a first appeal is law of the case on all subsequent appeals in which the facts are substantially the same." <u>Walker v. State</u>, 85 Nev. 337, 343, 455 P.2d 34, 38 (1969).

NRS 34.726 requires that the petition be filed within 1 year after the entry of judgment of conviction or remittitur from the appellate court absent a showing of

good cause for the delay. NRS 34.810 states a petition should be dismissed when it is the result of a trial and the grounds for the petition could have been "(1) presented to the trial court; (2) raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for writ of habeas corpus or postconviction relief; or (3) raised in any other proceeding that the petition has taken to secure relief from the petitioner's conviction and sentence." NRS 34.800 indicates a petition may be dismissed if the delay in filing (a) prejudices the respondent or the State of Nevada in responding to the petition, unless the petition shows that the petition is based upon grounds of which the petitioner could not have knowledge by the exercise of reasonable diligence before the circumstances prejudicial to the State occurred, or (b) prejudices the State of Nevada in its retrial of the petitioner, unless the petitioner demonstrates that a fundamental miscarriage of justice has occurred in the proceedings resulting in the judgment of conviction or sentence." NRS 34.800(b) establishes a presumption of prejudice to the State occurs when a petition is filed over 5 years after the judgment of conviction or decision on appeal.

Here, Floyd filed his third petition on April 15, 2021. Remittitur from his original judgment of conviction was filed on August 15, 2002. Based on NRS 34.726(1), his petition was not filed within the statutory requirement that the petition be filed within 1 year after the appellate court issued its remittitur. As such, the

district court should have dismissed the petition on the grounds that it was untimely file.

Floyd's third petition also violated NRS 34.810 because his petition included grounds that he either did, or could have, raised on direct appeal or in previous petitions. Moreover, his petition was successive because it sought relief on matters that had already been considered, denied, and upheld in his second petition. Finally, Floyd's petition was abuse of the writ because it included new and different grounds for relief. Pursuant to the rules that govern post-conviction petitions, Floyd's third petition was subject to multiple mandatory procedural bars. <u>Id.</u>, at 231, 112 P.3d 1074.

Given that Floyd has exhausted his appellate remedies, the filing of any petition or appeal now creates incredible prejudice to the State of Nevada. Floyd's third petition was filed after the State had already secured an order and warrant of execution for Floyd. His continuing litigation of "new" claims is a mere attempt for him to delay his sentence. If courts are required to continue entertaining and allowing him to appeal the denial of subsequent petitions, then the procedural requirements will serve no purpose and Floyd will be able to prolong his sentence indefinitely.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT HAD AUTHORITY TO DENY FLOYD'S THIRD PETITION

Floyd claims that it was error for the district court to rule on his third petition because the petition should have been transferred to Department 5. Floyd had already litigated this issue by way of a motion seeking to have the case transferred, and then he re-argued the same issue below in the form of a petition for writ of habeas corpus. Floyd then also filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus seeking to have this Court intervene on this matter. This Court recently denied the Petition for Writ of Mandamus in an Order dated February 24, 2022. S. Ct. No. 83167.

This Court reviews for abuse of discretion a district court's denial of a habeas petition. <u>Rubio v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1032, 1047, 194 P.3d 1224, 1234 (2008). Though this Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo, it gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. <u>State v. Huebler</u>, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013).

A petition for writ of habeas corpus should only address (1) relief from a judgment of conviction or sentence in a criminal case; or (2) challenges to the computation of time that a petition has served pursuant to a judgment of conviction. NRS 34.720. "Habeas corpus is a unique remedy that is governed by its own statutes regarding procedure and appeal. <u>Mazzan v. State</u>, 109 Nev. 1067, 863 P.2d 1035 (1993). Given that habeas corpus is a statutorily created remedy, the claims raised must fit within the statutory scheme.

NRS 34.730 governs the filing of a petition for writ of habeas corpus. According to NRS 34.730(3)(b), the petition must "[W]henever possible, [be] assigned to the original judge or court." When construing statutory language, courts are to avoid an absurd or unreasonable result and will avoid any interpretation that nullifies all or part of the statute. <u>Speer v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 677, 5 P.3d 1063 (2000).

As a preliminary matter, the district court made a record that the judge who previously presided over the trial is no longer a sitting judge. 11 PA 2657. Thus, it would not be possible to have a former judge preside over the case.

Then turning to the second part of NRS 34.730(3)(b), the question would be whether the original court could hear the matter. The district court acknowledged that Floyd's case was part of a random re-assignment of all cases from Department 5 to Department 17 on December 28, 2008. 11 PA 2659. Thus, the district court found that he was in fact the successor judge for Floyd's case. <u>Id</u>. In its final order, the district court pointed out that the Nevada Supreme Court has upheld the Eighth Judicial District Court's re-assignment of cases, thus Department 17 was an appropriate department to rule on any motions or petitions. 13 PA 3109-3110. In denying the transfer in this petition, the district court indicated that it was relying on its previous decision that was made in the criminal case number. 13 PA 3159.

Where a judge is no longer in office, this Court has consistently approved of rules that have allowed for a successor judge to take the place of a judge who is no longer serving. <u>Moore v. City of Las Vegas</u>, 92 Nev. 402, 552 P.2d 244 (1976). For instance in <u>Moore</u>, this Court upheld a district court rule that permitted a successor judge to hear a case when the original judge was unable. As this Court pointed out,

the rule was in place to prevent judge shopping, but when the judge becomes unavailable due to an event beyond the control of any of the parties then it would make sense that the rule should be adapted.

The same can be said in this case. Judge Sobel presided over Floyd's trial in 2000. Judge Sobel happened to be the presiding judge of a judicial department that was given the number 5. The fact that Judge Sobel happened to be in Department 5 during that year was completely random. There was no added significance to the department number. Ultimately, all of Judge Sobel's cases were part of a reassignment to Department 17. Thus, it was appropriate for Department 17 to make the rulings in the case. Since it was not possible for the same judge to hear this case now, the random re-assignment of this case should prevail.

When the matter was raised again with regards to Floyd's petition, the district court applied the same logic and law as it had relied upon to deny Floyd's motion to have other aspects of the case transferred. As such, the district court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that it had jurisdiction to rule on Floyd's third petition for writ of habeas corpus.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN RULING THAT FLOYD DID NOT HAVE A DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO SEEK CLEMENCY

Floyd argued that his sentence was invalid because he has been deprived of an opportunity to seek clemency. The district court properly denied this claim. First, this was an improper subject matter for a petition for writ of habeas corpus as it falls outside the scope of the statute. NRS 34.720 states that a petition for writ of habeas corpus apply only to (1) requests of relief from a judgment of conviction or sentence in a criminal case; or (2) challenges to the computation of time that a person has served pursuant to a judgment of conviction. Floyd's request for clemency had to do with neither.

The United States Supreme Court has held that state clemency proceedings rarely if ever are appropriate subjects for judicial review. <u>Connecticut Bd. of Pardons v. Dumschat</u>, 452 U.S. 458, 464 , 101 S.Ct. 2460, 2464 (1981). An inmate has no constitutional or inherent right to the commutation of his sentence. <u>Id</u>. Even when a person has received a sentence of death, there is still no due process when seeking clemency. <u>Ohio Adult Parole Authority v. Woodard</u>, 523 U.S. 272, 118 S.Ct. 1244 (1998). As the United States Supreme Court and well as this Court have both acknowledged, clemency is a matter of grace and not a judicial right. <u>Id</u>., *see also* <u>Niergarth v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 26, 28, 768 P.2d 882, 883 (1989).

The process for seeking clemency is no different from the types of laws that granted clemency in the cases previously discussed. Article 5, Section 14 of the Nevada Constitution speaks to the State Board of Pardons. The Board of Pardons Commissioners consist of the governor, justices of the supreme court, and the attorney general. Art. 5, Sec.14(1). NV Const. Art. 5, Sec.14(1). Chapter 213 of the Nevada Administrative Code ("NAC") contains the provisions governing and related to the Board of Pardons Commissioners. "Clemency" is defined as "the remission or lessening of a punishment to which a person convicted of a crime was sentenced and includes the remission of a fine or forfeiture, the commutation of a punishment, the granting of a pardon and the restoration, in whole or in part, of the civil rights of a person convicted of a crime." NAC 213.011.

According to NAC 213.019, the NAC "do not grant any person a right to the remission of a fine or forfeiture, the commutation of a punishment, the granting of a pardon or the restoration of any civil rights..." and the NAC does not "create any such right or interest in liberty or property or establish a basis for any cause of action against the State."

The provisions of the NAC are subject to the same principles of statutory interpretation of the NRS. <u>Silver State Elec. V. State, Dep't of Tax</u>, 123 Nev. 80, 85, 157 P.3d 710, 713 (2007). "When the text of a statute is plain and unambiguous, [the court] should...not go beyond that meaning." <u>Star Ins Co. v Neighbors</u>, 122 Nev. 733, 776, 138 P.3d 507, 510 (2006).

NAC 213.019 clearly states that an individual does not have a right to seek clemency. The language plainly says that there is no basis for any cause of action against the State. Thus, not only is this not an issue that was properly raised in a petition for writ of habeas corpus, it is an issue that should not and cannot be raised at all. Floyd has no right to seek clemency.

Finally, nothing has prevented Floyd from seeking clemency. According to his appeal, he has applied for clemency. His problem however is that he has not heard if he will be granted a hearing. As the NAC states, this matter lies solely with the members of the Board of Pardons and whether any member wishes to put the matter before the Board.

Ultimately, an individual who has received a death sentence is subject to multiple layers of scrutiny. This case has had multiple appeals, petitions, and publicity. The appeals and petitions are even being heard and decided by this Court. Moreover, should any warrant and order of execution be filed, the Supreme Court rules require that notice be given to the Supreme Court. Presumably, any person belonging to the Board could elect to have this matter heard by the Board, but no hearing has been scheduled. Nothing in the Nevada Constitution, the Nevada Revised Statutes, or the Nevada Administrative Code mandates that a person submitting an application for clemency is guaranteed notice of the status of his or her application or any particular result. Thus, the district court did not err in denying Floyd's claim that he was not given an opportunity to apply for clemency.

///

///

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING FLOYD'S FASD CLAIM

Floyd now claims that he is categorically exempt from the death penalty because he suffers from Fetal Alcohol Spectrum Disorder ("FASD"). Floyd argued that he raised the claim for the first time in his third petition because the claim is based on new scientific evidence demonstrating the equivalence of FASD as an intellectual disability. 6 PA 1386.

A. Floyd should have been procedurally barred from raising this claim

Floyd correctly points out that the State's argument before the district court was that Floyd was procedurally barred from making this claim. Floyd's third petition was untimely, successive, and the denial of his fetal alcohol syndrome disorder (FASD) claim was the law of the case.

As mentioned before, a district court has a duty imposed by law to only consider claims when the claims are not barred under NRS 34.726, NRS 34,810, NRS 34.800, or the previous law of the case. <u>State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court</u> (<u>Riker</u>), 121 Nev. 225, 112 P.3d 1070 (2005).

The issue regarding Floyd's FASD was previously litigated in his second petition. Floyd raised his FASD-related claims in two forms. First, he argued that his counsel was ineffective for not presenting evidence that he suffers from FASD. Second, he argued that he was "actually innocent" because his FASD, combined with other mental conditions, prevented him from forming the intent to commit premeditated and deliberate murder. Before it rejected Floyd's second petition, the district court conducted an evidentiary hearing regarding the FASD evidence and whether counsel's conduct fell below the reasonable standard per <u>Strickland</u>.

Following the evidentiary hearing that the district court conducted regarding trial counsel's failure to raise a FASD claim, the district court found that trial counsel's conduct fell within the realm of reasonableness, thus Floyd was not prejudiced and would not be entitled to relief. Furthermore, this court rejected the appeal following the denial of Floyd's second petition that his FASD claim, along with other claims, rendered him "actually innocent" of first-degree murder and ineligible for the death penalty. Thus, this is now the law of the case and he was not permitted to bring this procedurally barred petition.

Moreover, to the extent that he feels there is good cause because of cases like <u>Atkins v. Virginia</u> (2002), <u>Roper v. Simmons</u> (2005), and FASD as it relates to the DSM-5 (2013), he has provided no sufficient explanation for why he waited so long to raise this claim. Other than the fact that he is not looking for a way to delay the proceedings, there is has been no good cause for his untimely filing.

B. Floyd has not suffered prejudice because there is no "functional equivalent" standard

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